

AGEING WELL

Kia eke kairangi ki te taikaumātuatanga

2023 AGEING WELL YEAR IN REVIEW

TABLE OF CONTENTS

93 93

8

INTRODUCTION	3
METHODS	3
Search strategy	3
Inclusion criteria	5
Categorisation	6
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	6
Study selection	6
Bones and joints	7
Cardiovascular conditions	7
Frailty, balance and falls	7
Health and social services	8
Health, wellbeing and quality of life Physical and mental activities Predicting decline in health Improving tools for determining health and wellbeing	8
Health workforce	
Housing	
Living and care facilities	
Mental health Policy, Interventions and modifiable factors Care planning	
Nutrition	12
Dietary intake	
Biomedical markers for diet	13
Other conditions Cancer Sleep Oral health Other	
Prescribing	14
Social connection	15
Transport and built environment	16
Not otherwise classified	
Not otherwise classified	16 17

INTRODUCTION

Ageing Well - *Kia eke kairangi ki te taikaumātuatanga* - is one of eleven National Science Challenges (NSC) identified by the New Zealand Ministry of Business, Innovation, and Employment (MBIE). These NSCs are used to direct science investment on issues that matter to all New Zealanders. The vision underpinning the Ageing Well National Science Challenge (AWNSC) is *to add life to years for all older New Zealanders*. In articulating this vision, the AWNSC recognises increases in life expectancy have not been matched by an increase in healthy life expectancy. AWNSC has established a bibliography of New Zealand research on older adults (2000-2021). This paper is a continuation of same activity, presenting a summary of 105 New Zealand-authored, peer-reviewed articles published 1st January 2023 to 31st December 2023.

METHODS

Search strategy

A systematic search for relevant publications was conducted, informed by the *Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA)* guidelines¹. The following electronic databases were searched: Ovid Medline, Web of Science Core Collection, and Scopus. The keywords were (*ageing* OR *old adults* OR *old people* OR *elder* OR *kaumātua*) AND (*New Zealand* OR *Māori* OR *Aotearoa*) AND (*health* OR *wellbeing* OR *care* OR *frailty* OR *palliative* OR *spirituality* OR *religion* OR *housing* OR *loneliness* OR *community* OR *culture* OR *migrant* OR *fall* OR *stroke* OR *nutrition* OR *physical activity* OR *mental health* OR *peer education* OR *income* OR *retirement* OR *transport* OR *lifecourse* OR *equity* OR *medication* OR *pain*). Table 1 presents the search strategy.

Table 1. Search strategy for the Year in Review 2023

Ov	id Medline	e Web of Science & Scopus	
1.	aging/ or aging.mp. or ageing.mp.	1.	aging OR ageing OR "old* adult*" OR
2.	old* adult*.mp.		"old* people" OR elder* OR Kaumatua
3.	old* people.mp.	2.	"New Zealand" OR Maori* OR Aotearoa
4.	elder*.mp.	3.	#1 AND #2 AND PUBYEAR = 2023
5.	Kaumatua.mp.	4.	health* OR wellbeing OR well-being
6.	1 or 2 or 3 or 4 or 5	5.	"home care agencies" OR "home care
7.	New Zealand.mp. or New Zealand/		services" OR "hospice care" OR "dental
8.	Maori*.mp.		care for aged" OR "advance care
9.	Aotearoa.mp.		planning" OR caregiv* OR "caregiver
10.	7 or 8 or 9		burden" OR carer*
11.	6 and 10	6.	"frail elderly" OR frail* OR "geriatric
12.	limit 11 to yr="2023 -2024"		assessment"

¹ Page M J, McKenzie J E, Bossuyt P M, Boutron I, Hoffmann T C, Mulrow C D et al. The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews BMJ 2021; 372 :n71 doi:10.1136/bmj.n71

Ageing Well National Science Challenge

13. health*.mp.	7. "palliative care" OR palliative OR "hospice
14. wellbeing.mp.	and palliative care nursing" OR "palliative
15. well-being.mp.	medicine" OR "terminal care" OR dying
16. 13 or 14 or 15	8. spiritual* OR "spiritual therapies"
17. Home Care Agencies/ or Home Care	9. religio*
Services/ or Hospice Care/ or Dental	10. home* OR hous* OR "housing for the
Care for Aged/ or Advance Care	elderly" OR residential
Planning/	11. "social isolation" OR "social* connected*"
18. caregiver*.mp. or Caregivers/ or	OR loneliness OR lonely
Caregiver Burden/	12. communit*
19. carer [*] .mp.	13. cultur*
20. caregiving.mp.	14. migrant*
21. 17 or 18 or 19 or 20	15. "accident* fall*" OR fall*
22. Frailty/ or Frail Elderly/ or Geriatric	16. stroke* OR "stroke rehabilitation"
Assessment/ or frail*.mp.	17. nutrition
23. Palliative Care/ or palliative.mp. or	 "physical activit*" OR exercis*
"Hospice and Palliative Care Nursing"/	19. "mental health" OR psychological
or Palliative Medicine/	20. "peer education" OR "peer group*"
24. Terminal Care/ or dying.mp.	21. income OR employment OR work OR
25. 23 or 24	volunteer*
26. spiritual*.mp. or Spirituality/ or	22. retir*
Spiritual Therapies/	23. transport OR mobility
27. Religion.mp. or Religion/ or "Religion	24. lifecourse OR "life course"
and Psychology"/	25. "socioeconomic factors" OR equality OR
28. home.mp.	"healthcare disparities" OR "health
29. housing.mp. or Housing/ or Housing	equity" OR equity
for the Elderly/	26. "medication errors" OR "medication
30. residential.mp.	adherence" OR medication* OR
31. 28 or 29 or 30	"medication reconciliation" OR
32. "social isolation".mp. or Social	prescription* OR "prescription drug
Isolation/	misuse" OR "prescription drugs" OR
"social* connected*".mp.	"prescription drug overuse" OR prescrib*
34. loneliness.mp. or Loneliness/	OR "drug prescriptions" OR polypharmacy
35. lonely.mp.	27. pain
36. 32 or 33 or 34 or 35	28. #4 OR #5 OR #6 OR #7 OR #8 OR #9 OR
37. communit*.mp.	#10 OR #11 OR #12 OR #13 OR #14 OR
38. Culture/ or cultur*.mp.	#15 OR #16 OR #17 OR #18 OR #19 OR
39. migrant*.mp.	#20 OR #21 OR #22 OR #23 OR #24 OR
40. Accidental Falls/ or fall*.mp.	#25 OR #26 OR #27
41. stroke*.mp. or Stroke Rehabilitation/	29. #28 AND #3
or Stroke/	
42. nutrition.mp.	
43. "physical activit*".mp.	
44. Exercise/ or exercis*.mp	
45. 43 or 44	
46. "mental health".mp. or Mental Health/	
47. psychological.mp.	
48. 46 or 47	
40 "maan advaatian" ma	

S S S SX XX

Ageing Well National Science Challenge

か

4

2023 Ageing Well Year in Review

	50 Peer Group/ or "neer group"* mp
-	51. 49 or 50
	52 Income mp_or Income/
-	53 Fmployment/ or employment mp
-	Mork/ or work mp
	54. Work of working.
	55. Volunteer .mp.
	50. 52 0r 53 0r 54 0r 55
	57. Retirement/ or retir [*] .mp.
	58. transport.mp.
	9. mobility.mp.
e	60. 58 or 59
e	51. lifecourse.mp.
6	52. "life course".mp.
6	53. 61 or 62
e	64. Socioeconomic Factors/ or
	equality.mp. or Healthcare Disparities/
6	55. Health Equity/ or equity.mp.
6	56. 64 or 65
6	57. Medication Errors/ or Medication
	Adherence/ or medication*.mp. or
	Medication Reconciliation/
e	58. prescription*.mp. or Prescription Drug
	Misuse/ or Prescription Drugs/ or
	Prescription Drug Overuse/
6	59. prescrib*.mp.
7	70. Prescriptions/ or Drug Prescriptions/
7	71. polypharmacy.mp. or Polypharmacy/
7	72. 67 or 68 or 69 or 70 or 71
7	73. pain.mp. or Pain/
7	74. 16 or 21 or 22 or 25 or 26 or 27 or 31
	or 36 or 37 or 38 or 39 or 40 or 41 or
	42 or 45 or 48 or 51 or 56 or 57 or 60
	or 63 or 66 or 72 or 73
7	75. 12 and 74

Inclusion criteria

Only articles published in English and on humans were selected. Since the purpose of this research activity was to generate a bibliography of research in the ageing area conducted in New Zealand, no filters were placed based on the type of publications. Articles identified in the search underwent a series of screening processes. Firstly, duplicate articles were removed. Assistant Research Fellow (David S. Jackson) independently selected and screened articles for potential eligibility based on titles and abstracts, and full texts. Consensus on inclusion was reached by discussion with secondary reviewer (Professor David Baxter). After screening, articles were categorised under different subheadings. Both authors of this review were not blinded to the journals or authors of the included studies.



Categorisation

Publications were assigned to one or more of 15 categories, to reflect the primary relevance of the publication. Assignment to more than one category was used conservatively. In addition to the relevant categories, an ethnicity category (Māori, Pacific, Asian) was also assigned, if the publication *primarily* reported on one of these broad ethnic groups.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Study selection

Figure 1 summarises the study selection process. The search strategy identified 478 articles. After duplicate removals, 429 articles were screened by title and abstract. The full-text of 113 articles were then assessed for eligibility, with 105 articles finally included in this Year in Review.

Figure 1. Study selection process



Table 2 summarises the assignment of the 105 publications to the 15 relevant categories.



Table 2. Classification of publications

Category	Number of publications
Bones and joints	2
Cardiovascular conditions	1
Frailty, balance, falls	5
Health and social services	2
Health, wellbeing and quality of life	17
Health workforce	4
Housing	2
Living and care facilities	7
Mental health	16
Nutrition	10
Other conditions	10
Prescribing	11
Social connection	6
Transport and built environment	4
Not otherwise classified	8

Bones and joints

A comparative review of hip replacement techniques, specifically around the use of implant technology, and their associated survival and functional outcomes for patients greater than 75 years old. The study employed data from the New Zealand Joint Registry.(1)

A review of an orthopaedic and geriatric shared care model in the Southland region of New Zealand. The model reduced length of stay for older adults, but did not significantly reduce rates of mortality for this cohort.(2)

Cardiovascular conditions

One study in this category examined the likelihood of returning to baseline function in older adults who have experience acute ischaemic stroke, and who underwent endovascular thrombectomy surgery. While all cause 90-day mortality is greater in older adults with this condition, return to baseline function for survivors was similar to that seen in younger patients.(3)

Frailty, balance and falls

Two studies examined mortality rates and predictions associated with frailty. In one, it was found that frailty was in general associated with worse long-term survival. This study suggested a more comprehensive post-intensive care management strategy. Data was retrospectively derived from the Australia and New Zealand Intensive Care Society Adult Patient registry.(4)
Ageing Well National Science Challenge 7 2023 Ageing Well Year in Review

In the second study in this category, frailty was found to be a strong independent predictor of mortality in older adults who had experienced an upper gastrointestinal bleed.(5)

Two further studies explore physical performance in relation to risk of falling. In one it was overwhelmingly determined that supportive footwear was preferred to minimalist footwear with regard to feeling more stable, despite evidence that showed similarity of balance performance and walking stability for each mode of footwear.(6)

A second study found that an exercise prescription – the Staying UpRight program – intended to reduce the rate of fall in older people living in long-term care, did not reduce the fall rate. However, as the study was interrupted by COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, the results should be treated with caution.(7)

One final study employed a Delphi-survey approach to examine consumer preferences for interventions, sarcopenia outcome priorities, and consultation processes. Results indicated key factors, including: physical performance, living situation, morale, quality of life and social connectedness. The study was conducted as part of the Australian and New Zealand Society for Sarcopenia and Frailty Research.(8)

Health and social services

Two studies addressed issues in this category. The first developed an age-specific measure of socioeconomic position for older adults in New Zealand. This measure is intended to inform policy makers on allocation of needs-based resources, and supersedes previously used working-age indicators.(9)

The second study examined the relationship between rates of amenable deaths and enrolment in the primary health organisation (PHO) network. Amenable causes of death were determined as those preventable through healthcare interventions). It was found that rates of amenable deaths were higher among those adults who were not enrolled in the PHO network in the year prior to death.(10)

Health, wellbeing and quality of life

Seventeen studies examined various aspects of health, wellbeing and quality of life.

Physical and mental activities

Seven studies focussed on physical and/or mental activity as a means to slow the decline of health due to ageing.

The Active for Life intervention utilising FitBit technology was well received and participants reported greater awareness and accountability for their fitness, although there was also sentiment for more personal contact between participants and intervention providers, and better tailoring to requirements.(11)

The University of the Third Age was promoted, from an historical perspective, as a model for continuing active engagement in older adults with activities that promote wellbeing and quality of life.(12)

Another study found that older adults' understanding of the importance of physical activity was heavily influenced by active discourse on ageing, and suggested increased promotion of physical activity should 'foreground feelings of connection, productivity, pleasure, and recognising their diversity'.(13)

A scoping review found self-reported positive impact of recreational activity on memory, feelings of control, negative emotions, life satisfaction, cognitive performance, body image, self-efficacy, enjoying life, and delaying ageing. (14)

One study examined the outcomes of change in lifestyle (exercise and diet) in obese men as part of the Rugby Fans in Training New Zealand (RUFIT NZ) program. There were positive and sustained effects on weight, waist circumference, overall fitness (self-reported physical activity), diet and health related quality of life.(15)

Physical activity uptake in retirement facilities was examined and found to be related to both environmental and personal factors. It was suggested that promotion of physical activity should be individualised appropriately to risk factors and levels of PA.(16)

Men with Parkinson's disease expressed that there should be connection between men's motivation for PA – physical health, mental wellbeing, and social connection – and how PA health messages are promoted for them.(17)

Predicting decline in health

Five studies searched for predictors for declining health. Intersectional perspective was sought on factors influencing healthy ageing in older men, and the key finding suggested that life engagement/purpose was universally influential for this cohort. (18)

A health, work and retirement study showed that models that 'characterise change by birth cohort' demonstrate some slower age-related health decline in more recent birth cohorts when compared with models for all participants.(19)

Trajectories of successful ageing were highlighted better through longitudinal studies. While determinants for successful ageing, such as functional capacity and life engagement, were important. Only age predicted the latent slope of the health-related ageing curve.(20)

One study examined the stages in life where the self-perceived impact of relative deprivation is most prevalent – suggesting these loci as important predictors of poorer health and wellbeing, as well as likely highlighting intergroup biases.(21)

A further study determined that young adults exaggerate their participation in physical activity, and that this is a public health concern as low levels of PA is associated with poorer health outcomes as people age, and this will also impact on healthcare resources and cost.(22)



Improving tools for determining health and wellbeing

Three studies sought to update existing tools to better serve in determining the needs of older adults. Two examined process evaluation and refinement for the Early Detection of Deterioration in Elderly Residents (EDDIE+) instrument, (23, 24) and the other assessed revisions to the Health of the Nation Outcome Scales 65+ (HoNOS Older Adults) tool. (25)

The remaining two studies addressed sleep (as a component contributing to waking productivity),(26) and how independence in continence care has greater positive impact on activities of daily living than autonomy.(27)

Health workforce

Of the four studies focussing on the health workforce, one examined the importance of developing confidence in student nurses for therapeutic engagement and clinical assessment of older adults.(28)

Two further studies (both conducted by the same authors) examined the impact of being a care worker when there exists the need to balance this work with other, potentially conflicting, life activities (such as family commitments, other primary employment).(29, 30) Both of these studies pointed toward policy provision to encompass these issues.

Shortages in the healthcare workforce were identified in one study, which then presented the novel solution of filling the gap with robotic technology. This particular study was conducted with an Asian cohort and identified the need to explore the cultural acceptance of forms of technology in healthcare.(31)

Housing

A Wintertime thermal analysis of New Zealand Homestar certified apartments for older people revealed issues in multi-habited spaces for older adults whereby not all spaces are thermally equal at the desired level.(32)

Cold housing, with evidence that older people are at especial risk of poorer health because of it, has helped shaped policy in the UK. More is needed for better understanding of the risks, and research continues to draw on New Zealand data.(33)



Real world data is being used to develop support for the next generation of healthcare workers, those in care and their families to make decisions and contributions to improved care for older adults.(34)

Two further studies examined the types of environments represented by aged care facilities, and how environmental factors aligned with the needs of the residents. Particular emphasis is given to the holistic and multifaceted nature of an individual's needs.(35, 36)

One study explored how the geographical location of residential facilities impacts on both choice of healthcare services and uptake of resources.(37)

Greater numbers of older adults are moving into retirement facilities, however, although there is no reliable claim for causality, relocation to a retirement village for older people is associated with a significant but non-sustained reduction in hospitalisation.(38)

Decline in quality-of-care leads to increases in complaints to the Health and Disability Commission (NZ) office. Common indicators of decline should be addressed speedily, and while not generalisable, they can be applied at the individual institute level.(39)

One study noted the lack of equity available to Maori residents and their whanau, linking this to obligations that must be met under Te Tiriti o Waitangi. Specifically this was drilling down inot how culturally safe care has a critical impact on organisational barriers.(40)

Mental health

Policy, Interventions and modifiable factors

Three studies described: policy implications in view of the fact that persons with serious mental illness at a younger age were significantly more likely to exhibit onset of frailty at a younger age; (41) alternative health frameworks such as Te Whare Tapa Wha have shown provision for wellbeing (during the COVID-19 pandemic) beyond the biomedical model of health for older adults and their families;(42) patients with differing levels of cognitive impairment (moderate or severe) require differential care needs.(43)

A web-based program was found to have the potential to enable access to evidence-based memory interventions for older adults worldwide. Critical in view of the increasing number of adults with cognitive concerns.(44)

Two studies examined medication usage: in one, lithium was found to be underutilised by adults with known bipolar disease; (45) and in the other, bipolar disease was associated with medication adherence and cognitive impairment to the same degree irrespective of age. (46) Ageing Well National Science Challenge 11 2023 Ageing Well Year in Review



Cognitive impairment was the most common condition in community dwelling older adults who had an interRAI assessment. CVD has the highest mortality risk for all ethnic groups, and in non-Māori/non-Pacific group of advanced age, risk of mortality with cognitive impairment is as high as CVD risk. Inverse for cancer mortality risk with age. Important differences between ethnic groups.(47)

Cataract surgery may decrease the risk of dementia onset, suggesting a need for recognition as part of an overall ageing response by policymakers and health professionals.(48)

A study of a National Dataset explored and analysed modifiable risk factors associated with the onset of dementia. However, the cross-sectional nature of the study was a potential limitation.(49)

One study examined the stigma of mental health issues as they pertain to the cultural values held by Chinese people. The study suggested interventions to increase knowledge and understanding of mental health for this population.(50)

Care planning

There is an urgent need to address official government data discrepancies and POA service resource inequalities, ensuring the *postcode* system that determines psychiatric care for older adults can be effectively eliminated.(51)

One study demonstrated the need for informed design of the Mate Wareware application, and these findings should further inform other Māori focussed digital health interventions.(52)

Two studies made the case for specialist integrated psychiatric care teams and heterogenous approaches to psychiatric care for older adults who are medically ill.(53, 54)

Coping strategies were examined among older adults who were vulnerable to mental stress and lived through the stresses of the COVIS-19 pandemic, and the general resilience of this cohort.(55)

A National Dataset analyses showed the need for more research on the processes that lead to a diagnosis of dementia in older adults with schizophrenia, particularly for policy and service providers to be able to apply data to care planning and quality control of services.(56)

Nutrition

Dietary intake

A 24-hour multiple pass recall dietary assessment is an appropriate and accessible tool for capturing dietary data in adults greater than 80 years old.(57)

Deer milk may lead to greater improvement of nutritional status and physical performance in women at risk of malnutrition and/or with lower BMI, and improve muscle mass in women with a higher BMI, in comparison with an oral nutritional supplement.(58)

The Nutrition for Healthy Living study showed that there was substantial nutritional inadequacy in adults aged 65 to 75 years, despite this cohort having a higher socio-economic level; (59) and in Dietary Protein Intake and Physical Function in Māori and Non-Māori Adults of Advanced Age in New Zealand (LiLACS NZ), reduction in protein intake in all participants.(60)

Dietary risk factors

In a study of sociodemographic and health indicators for diet quality in a population of pre-frailty older adults, key indicators such as BMI and living arrangements were shown to be independent predictors of diet quality, with BMI as the most impactful variable when all factors were considered together.(61)

Three further studies examined dietary risk factors: The need to measure a broader profile of 1C nutrients when monitoring the nutritional and health status of aging populations;(62) Relative protein intake is positively associated with BMI-muscle strength in females older adults aged between 65 and 74 years, but not for males; (63) and the Findings from Life and Living in Advanced Age Cohort Study in New Zealand (LiLACS NZ) show that nutrition risk, but not malnutrition diagnosed by the GLIM criteria was significantly associated with mortality for Māori. Both nutrition risk and malnutrition were significantly associate with mortality for non-Māori.(64)

Biomedical markers for diet

Three studies focussed on the biomedical markers associated with diet for: Older adults appear to maintain postprandial responsiveness of 1C metabolism similar to younger adults, supported by a similar postprandial decline in homocysteine concentrations;(65) The contribution and role of diet in modifying inflammation in postmenopausal women.(66)

Other conditions

Cancer

Patients diagnosed within the Australia & New Zealand National Bowel Screening Program were found to be younger and have earlier stage colorectal cancer. Diagnosis within the NBSP is an independent predictor of survival for patients with CRC.(67)

Wider dissemination of information about early-onset colorectal cancer at primary care level is imperative given the increasing incidence of the disease, the frequency of diagnostic delay, the rates of late-stage diagnosis and the dissatisfaction with patient experience reported by patients whose diagnosis is delayed.(68)

Early detection and better management of stage I–III breast cancer can lead to better outcome and lower costs in follow-up years.(69)

Sleep

Indicators of sleep disturbance among care recipients are associated with increased likelihood of carer distress. This has implications for managing the overall home-care situation and long-term care needs, as well as the well-being of both parties.(70)

Indicators of negative lifestyle and health factors remain consistent predictors of atypical sleep with ageing. Demographic disparities are less apparent among older atypical sleepers. Individual and contextual factors associated with atypical sleep patterns may be important for age-appropriate recognition and management of sleep problems.(71)

Oral health

Self-reported approaches are discriminative for poor oral health. Standardised assessment tools used in residential care facilities should consider including a self-assessment component.(72)

Five-year-olds with greater caries experience were more likely to have poorer self-rated general health by midlife. A finding of The Dunedin Study. (73)

Other

Sarcopenia is highly prevalent in elderly haemodialysis patients but is not an independent predictor of mortality. Haemodialysis patients have multiple competing risks for mortality which was predicted by a lower mean arterial pressure and a higher total comorbidity score.(74)

A review that provides the practical and theoretical evidence that can direct policy makers in highincome countries towards achieving universal health coverage when designing new eye health services for older people.(75)

The apparent survival benefit associated with longer haemodialysis session length appears to be preserved in patients 65 years or older. In practice, the benefit of longer dialysis hours should be carefully weighed against other factors in this patient group.(76)

Prescribing

Pharmacists are in a prime position to monitor and ensure optimal drug therapy and improve health outcomes - but many self-care initiatives are unrecognized or un-remunerated by Government.(77)

A significant proportion of patients developed persistent opioid use (POU), and several factors were associated with POU. Findings will enable healthcare providers and policy makers to target early interventions to prevent POU and related adverse events.(78)

A study found that despite higher dementia prevalence in Māori and Pacific peoples, these cohorts were less likely to receive funded anti-dementia medication.(79)

Bone protection medication prescription early after hip fracture is low. Opportunities exist to increase the rate of prescription of medications known to prevent future fractures in this high-risk population.(80)

In one study, no evidence was found to suggest the effectiveness of de-prescribing anticholinergic and sedative drugs to reduce polypharmacy for participants of any frailty level.(81)

PolyScan, an information technology triage tool, can support clinicians, clinics, and policymakers with allocation of resources, rational medicine campaigns, and identifying individuals prescribed potentially inappropriate medicines for review.(82) In a further study, the same authors found that NZ criteria provides 61 medication indicators, which NZ experts recommend should prompt formal, documented review. Criteria can be used to systematically identify patients at the highest risk of avoidable medication-related harm for proactive review.(83)

Prescribing omissions and inappropriate medications were found to be common in older inpatients. Differences were observed between ethnic groups, with NZ Europeans having fewer omissions.(84) The same authors found that most older inpatients wanted to be involved in decision-making about their medications and were willing to stop one or more medications if proposed by their prescriber.(85)

No evidence was found for the effect of pharmacist deprescribing intervention on reducing the anticholinergic burden. Post hoc analysis examined the impact of COVID-19 on the effectiveness of the intervention, and further research in this area may be warranted.(86)

Pharmacist-led deprescribing recommendations arising from an algorithm-based medication review are acceptable to doctors and can have a significant impact on reducing the number of inappropriate medications consumed by older people in residential aged care facilities.(87)

Social connection

Ageing in place has a practical and culturally sensitive application among Indigenous older adults. There are specific elements of physical and social environment that require further examination through research and design of Indigenous social policies. It is particularly important to consider improvements in housing conditions, the opportunity to live with or close to family and, especially, the significance for this group of being connected to the land.(88)

Another study highlights the need to consider health beyond the individual to the collective, embracing indigenous perspectives, and authentically nurturing relationships with Pacific health providers.(89)

Older Asian migrants engaged in a range of creative strategies to stay connected during COVID-19lockdowns which drew heavily on pre-existing social capital. Future pandemic responses should seekAgeing Well National Science Challenge152023 Ageing Well Year in Review

to improve connectedness between the national government COVID-19 response and older Korean and Chinese later-life migrants.(90)

From The Dunedin Study, although findings are associational, they indicate that preventing social isolation, particularly in mid-adulthood, may help to avert accelerated brain ageing associated with negative health outcomes later in life.(91) A further study from this group found that interrupting persistent social isolation may help to prevent adult depression whereas halting adult social isolation may ameliorate both depression and suicide outcomes. Again, the findings were associational.(92)

One study provides the baseline scores and correlates of important social and health outcomes for the He Huarahi Tautoko (Avenue of Support) programme, a strengths-based approach for enhancing cultural connection and physical activity.(93)

Transport and built environment

The overarching assessment of one audit showed that there has not been a substantial improvement in post-disaster urban conditions to support active ageing.(94)

Focus on enabling seniors' resilience through housing recognises the growing significance of structural population ageing for housing design and delivery and the central role of housing to ageing in place policies that underpin health and welfare provision.(95)

The realities of rurality mean that policies around ageing in place are not so easy to realise in rural communities given the practical challenges of distance and low population density. Yet this results in older adults having little choice but to leave their homes for the more accessible amenities and services in urban centres.(96)

Building on existing attributes should facilitate implementation and promote the sustainability of local age-friendly initiatives. To avoid undermining existing community strengths, older adults and stakeholders from rural communities should be actively engaged in planning and implementing age-friendly initiatives from the outset.(97)

Not otherwise classified

While the Staying Upright program was valued, the tight financial environment created by the current funding model in New Zealand did not support funding physical therapist delivered falls prevention exercise programs in long term care. This study may provide policy makers with important information on changes needed to support falls prevention service delivery in LTC.(98)



Pain Clinic for Older People achieved significant and meaningful improvements in pain outcomes that satisfied the national benchmark. Advanced age, cognitive impairment, frailty and multimorbidity should not be regarded as barriers to benefit from a pain clinic specifically designed for older people.(100)

Total physical activity (PA) was higher in middle-aged adults, with diverse patterns by age within domains. Māori accumulated less leisure PA than NZ Europeans but higher total PA. Inequalities in PA varied by domain and sociodemographic group. These results should be used to inform interventions to improve PA.(101)

One study found general support from patients for the use of their routinely collected data for secondary purposes as long as its use will benefit the population from which the data are taken. It also highlights the necessity of including the perspectives of different cultures in the collection, storage, use and analysis of health information, particularly concerning Māori cultural considerations.(102)

Medication adherence improves morbidity and mortality-related outcomes in heart failure, and knowledge of patterns of medication adherence supports patient and clinician decision-making. There was a significant disparity between Māori and non-Māori concerning medication adherence.(103)

Companion animal fostering can be considered health-promoting for human and non-human animals, using a broad and multidimensional understanding of health.(104)

Results from one study highlight the disparity between how older Pacific adults and geriatric professionals perceive elder abuse, and the policies behind geriatric services that rely on indiscriminate Western health models to identify abuse. (105)

Ethnicity

In addition to classification into primary categories, when relevant, publications were assigned to a broad ethnicity category (Māori, Pacific, Asian). Many publications involved, or were relevant to one or more ethnic groups, but the ethnicity category was used only when the publication was *primarily* addressing one of these groups (Table 3).



Ethnicity	Number of publications	References
Māori	10	(40, 52, 60, 64, 79, 88, 93, 101-103)
Pacific	3	(79, 89, 105)
Asian	5	(31, 50, 90)

 Table 3. References relating primarily to a broad ethnic group

REFERENCES

 Boyle AB, Zhu M, Frampton C, Poutawera V, Vane A. Comparing modern uncemented, hybrid and cemented implant combinations in older patients undergoing primary total hip arthroplasty, a New Zealand Joint Registry study. Archives of Orthopaedic and Trauma Surgery. 2023;143(6):3597-604.

 Morris H, Cameron C, Vanderboor C, Nguyen A, Londahl M, Harng Chong Y, et al. Hip fractures in the older adult: Orthopaedic and geriatric shared care model in Southland, New Zealand
 A 5-year follow-up study. BMJ Open Quality. 2023;12.

3. Dunphy H, Garcia-Esperon C, Beom Hong J, Manoczki C, Wilson D, Lim Alvin Chew B, et al. Endovascular thrombectomy for acute ischaemic stroke improves and maintains function in the very elderly: A multicentre propensity score matched analysis. Eur Stroke J. 2023;8(1):191-8.

Alamgeer M, Ling RR, Ueno R, Sundararajan K, Sundar R, Pilcher D, et al. Frailty and long-term survival among patients in Australian intensive care units with metastatic cancer (FRAIL-CANCER study): a retrospective registry-based cohort study. Lancet Healthy Longev.
 2023;4(12):e675-e84.

5. Guliyara MA, Ermerak G, Levy M, Koo JH, Bassan M. Frailty predicts mortality in patients with upper gastrointestinal bleed: a prospective cohort study. J Gastroenterol Hepatol. 2023;38(8):1292-8.

6. Azhar AN, Munteanu SE, Menz HB. Effects of supportive and minimalist footwear on standing balance and walking stability in older women. J. 2023;16(1):38.

7. Taylor LM, Parsons J, Moyes SA, Binns E, Cavadino A, Taylor D, et al. Effects of an Exercise Program to Reduce Falls in Older People Living in Long-Term Care: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2023;29:29.

8. Zanker J, Sim M, Anderson K, Balogun S, Brennan-Olsen S, Dent E, et al. The Australian and New Zealand Society for Sarcopenia and Frailty Research (ANZSSFR) sarcopenia diagnosis and management task force: Findings from the consumer expert Delphi process. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42(1):251-7.

9. Exeter DJ, Healey O, Colbert J, Shackleton N. Developing SEP65: A Census-Derived Index of Socio-Economic Position Specifically for the Older Population in Aotearoa New Zealand. Social Indicators Research. 2023;169(3):973-91.

10. Silwal P, Lopez MI, Pledger M, Cumming J, Jeffreys M. Association between enrolment with a Primary Health Care provider and amenable mortality: A national population-based analysis in Aotearoa New Zealand. PLoS ONE. 2023;18(2 February).

11. Alley SJ, Schoeppe S, To QG, Parkinson L, van Uffelen J, Hunt S, et al. Engagement, acceptability, usability and satisfaction with Active for Life, a computer-tailored web-based physical activity intervention using Fitbits in older adults. Int. 2023;20(1):15.

12. Casanova G, Weil J, Cerqueira M. The evolution of universities of the third age around the world: A historical review. Gerontol Geriatr Educ. 2023:16.

13. Chamussy L, Morgan T, Morgan K, Williams L, Wiles J, Gott M. Joy, Jobs, and Sweat: Older Adults' Physical Activity During COVID-19 Lockdowns in New Zealand. Journal of Aging and Physical Activity. 2023;31:897-908.

14. Griffiths K, Davies L, Savage C, Shelling M, Dalziel P, Christy E, et al. The Value of Recreational Physical Activity in Aotearoa New Zealand: A Scoping Review of Evidence and Implications for Social Value Measurement. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2023;20(4).

15. Maddison R, Hargreaves EA, Jiang Y, Calder AJ, Wyke S, Gray CM, et al. Rugby Fans in Training New Zealand (RUFIT NZ): a randomized controlled trial to assess the effectiveness of a healthy lifestyle program for overweight men delivered through professional rugby clubs. International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity. 2023;20(1).

16. Yoshihara A, Bloomfield K, Wu Z, Tatton A, Hikaka J, Boyd M, et al. Opportunities to be active in retirement villages and factors associated with physical activity in residents. J Prim Health Care. 2023;15(1):6-13.

17. da Silva K, Baxter GD, Calder A. Views of men with Parkinson's disease regarding physical activity health messaging. Disability and Health Journal. 2023;16(1).

18. Xiao H, Doolan-Noble F, White A, Lu W, Liu L, Baxter D. Intersectional Perspective on Factors Influencing Healthy Ageing Amongst Older New Zealand Men: An Exploratory Mixed Methods Study. Journal of Mixed Methods Research. 2023.

19. Allen J, Alpass FM, Towers A, Stevenson B, Szabó Á, Breheny M, et al. The health, work, and retirement study: representing experiences of later life in Aotearoa New Zealand. Journal of the Royal Society of New Zealand. 2023;53(4):532-47.

20. Fasoro A, Maddocks W, Barnett P, Basu A. Trajectories of Successful Aging Among Older Adults in Aotearoa New Zealand. J Appl Gerontol. 2023;42(8):1781-90.

21. Lilly KJ, Sibley CG, Osborne D. Perceived Relative Deprivation Across the Adult Lifespan: An Examination of Aging and Cohort Effects. Pers Soc Psychol Bull. 2023:19.

22. Wilson OWA, Smith M, Duncan S, Hinckson E, Mizdrak A, Richards J. Differences in physical activity participation among young adults in Aotearoa New Zealand. BMC Public Health. 2023;23(1).

23. Allen MJ, Carter HE, Cyarto E, Meyer C, Dwyer T, Oprescu F, et al. From pilot to a multi-site trial: refining the Early Detection of Deterioration in Elderly Residents (EDDIE +) intervention. BMC geriatr. 2023;23(1):811.

24. Bracci E, Allen M, Carter HE, Cyarto L, Dwyer T, Graves N, et al. Protocol for a process evaluation of a stepped wedge randomised controlled trial to reduce unnecessary hospitalisations of older people from residential aged care: the EDDIE+ study. BMJ Open. 2023;13(2):e066857.

25. Harris MG, Tapp C, Arnautovska U, Coombs T, Dickson R, Smith M, et al. Assessing the content validity of the revised Health of the Nation Outcome Scales 65+: the HoNOS Older Adults. BJPsych Bull. 2023;47(4):195-202.

26. Breheny M, Ross I, Ladyman C, Signal L, Dew K, Gibson R. "It's Just [Complicated] Sleep": Discourses of Sleep and Aging in the Media. Gerontologist. 2023;63(10):1591-601.

27. Burholt V, Peri K, Awatere S, Balmer D, Cheung G, Daltrey J, et al. Improving continence management for people with dementia in the community in Aotearoa, New Zealand: Protocol for a mixed methods study. PLoS ONE. 2023;18(7 July).

28. Brownie SM, Chalmers LM, Broman P, Andersen P. Evaluating an undergraduate nursing student telehealth placement for community-dwelling frail older people during the COVID-19 pandemic. J Clin Nurs. 2023;32(1-2):147-62.

29. Koreshi SY, Alpass F. Reconciling Paid Work and Informal Caregiving Among Older Adults: Implications for Work Interference With Family. Innov Aging. 2023;7(9):igad115.

30. Koreshi SY, Alpass F. Understanding the use of Flexible Work Arrangements Among Older New Zealand Caregivers. J Appl Gerontol. 2023;42(5):1045-55.

31. Chiu CJ, Lo YH, Montayre J, Abu-Odah H, Chen ML, Zhao IY. Identifying Preferred Appearance and Functional Requirements of Aged Care Robots Among Older Chinese Immigrants: Cross-Sectional Study. JMIR Aging. 2023;6:e48646.

32. Ade R, Rehm M, Vishnupriya P. A wintertime thermal analysis of New Zealand Homestar certified apartments for older people. Building Research and Information. 2023.

33. Barlow CF, Daniel L, Bentley R, Baker E. Cold housing environments: defining the problem for an appropriate policy response. J Public Health Policy. 2023;44(3):370-85.

34. Hoogendijk EO, Onder G, Smalbil L, Vetrano DL, Hirdes JP, Howard EP, et al. Optimising the care for older persons with complex chronic conditions in home care and nursing homes: design and protocol of I-CARE4OLD, an observational study using real-world data. BMJ Open. 2023;13(6):e072399.

35. Kuboshima Y, McIntosh J. The impact of housing environments on social connection: an ethnographic investigation on quality of life for older adults with care needs. Journal of Housing and the Built Environment. 2023;38(3):1353-83.

36. Lim D, Grady A, Liu KPY. Public Mixed Funding for Residential Aged Care Facilities Residents' Needs in the Asia-Pacific Region: A Scoping Review. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023;20(21):01.

37. Adie JW, Graham W, O'Donnell R, Wallis M. Patient presentations to an after-hours general practice, an urgent care clinic and an emergency department on Sundays: a comparative, observational study. J Health Organ Manag. 2023;10:10.

38. Bloomfield K, Wu Z, Boyd M, Broad JB, Hikaka J, Peri K, et al. Changes in hospitalisation rates in older people before and after moving to a retirement village. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42(4):660-7.

39. Mowat R, Dewar J, Ram F. Learning from complaints to the Health and Disability Commission Office: A case study into indicators of deterioration in aged residential care organisations in New Zealand. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42(2):365-73.

40. Keelan K, Pitama S, Wilkinson T, Lacey C. It's not special treatment... That's part of the Treaty of Waitangi! Organisational barriers to enhancing the Aged Residential Care environment for older Māori and Whānau in New Zealand. International Journal of Health Planning and Management.
2023.

41. Barak Y, Greco P, Glue P. Aging among Persons with Serious Mental Illness:Policy Implications for Earlier Onset of Frailty. GeroPsych: The Journal of Gerontopsychology and Geriatric Psychiatry. 2023;36(2):92-6.

42. Frey R, Balmer D. Psychosocial well-being in Long-Term Care in the Wake of COVID-19: Findings from a Qualitative Study in New Zealand. J Cross Cult Gerontol. 2023;38(3):263-83.

43. Merrick E, Shannon K, Neville S, Bail K, Vorster A, Fry M. A cross-sectional description of the health characteristics of cognitively impaired older adults. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42(1):241-5.

44. Pike K, Moller CI, Bryant C, Farrow M, Dao DP, Ellis KA. Examination of the Feasibility, Acceptability, and Efficacy of the Online Personalised Training in Memory Strategies for Everyday Program for Older Adults: Single-Arm Pre-Post Trial. J Med Internet Res. 2023;25:e41712.

45. Almeida OP, Etherton-Beer C, Kelty E, Sanfilippo F, Preen DB, Page A. Lithium Dispensed for Adults Aged=50 Years Between 2012 and 2021: Analyses of a 10% Sample of the Australian Pharmaceutical Benefits Scheme. Am J Geriatr Psychiatr. 2023;31(9):716-25.

46. Cohen B, Sixsmith A, Pollock Star A, Haglili O, O'Rourke N. Direct and Indirect Predictors of Medication Adherence With Bipolar Disorder: Path Analysis. JMIR Form Res. 2023;7:e44059.

47. Abey-Nesbit R, Jamieson HA, Bergler HU, Kerse N, Pickering JW, Teh R. Chronic health conditions and mortality among older adults with complex care needs in Aotearoa New Zealand. BMC geriatr. 2023;23(1).

48. March de Ribot F, de Ribot AM, Walker X, Jamieson H, Cheung G. Dementia and cataract surgery in Australia and New Zealand. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42(3):450-4.

49. Mentzel C, Glue P, Greco P, Barak Y. Analysing Realistic effects of modifiable risk factors for dementia in a large National Dataset. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2023;105.

50. Lowe H, Cheung G. Old Age Psychiatry. Australas. 2023;31(4):475-9.

51. Copeland B, Barak Y, Cheung G. The 2023 New Zealand psychiatry of old age services and workforce survey. Australas. 2023;31(4):480-4.

52. Dudley M, Olsen S, Reihana C, King M, Spooner H, Cullum S, et al. Te Ōranga Ō Te Roro: kaumātua perspectives on the development of a mobile app for mate wareware (dementia) awareness. The New Zealand medical journal. 2023;136(1586):73-83.

Hopkins J, Sundram F, Cullum S, Cheung G. Towards integrated Consultation-Liaison
Psychiatry for older adults in New Zealand. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry.
2023;57(5):625-8.

54. Hopkins JR, Skudder E, Sundram F, Cullum S. A survey of the psychiatric care provided for medically ill older adults in general hospitals in New Zealand. Australas. 2023;31(4):485-93.

55. Kaur N, Stephens C. An Examination of Coping Strategies that Moderated the Effects of
COVID-19-Related Stress on Anxiety Among Older Adults in Aotearoa/NZ. J Aging Health.
2023:8982643231199141.

56. Mentzel C, Taube C, Glue P, Barak Y. Older adults with schizophrenia and dementia: Analysis of a national dataset. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42(3):609-12.

57. Adamson A, Davies K, Wham C, Kepa M, Foster E, Jones A, et al. Assessment of Dietary Intake in Three Cohorts of Advanced Age in Two Countries: Methodology Challenges. J Nutr Health Aging. 2023;27(1):59-66.

58. Kruger MC, Mazahery H, Mugridge O, Turner S, von Hurst P. A comparative intervention trial of deer milk and an oral nutritional supplement efficacy for improving older adults' nutritional status, muscle mass and physical performance. Clin Nutr ESPEN. 2023;57:346-57.

59. Luong R, Ribeiro RV, Hirani V, Simpson SJ, Le Couteur DG, Raubenheimer D, et al. Associations between protein to non-protein ratio and intakes of other dietary components in a cohort aged 65-75 years: the Nutrition for Healthy Living Study. Public Health Nutr. 2023;26(12):3023-37.

60. Lingman M, Kerse N, Muru-Lanning M, Teh R. Dietary Protein Intake and Physical Function in Māori and Non-Māori Adults of Advanced Age in New Zealand: LiLACS NZ. Nutrients. 2023;15(7).

61. Tay E, Barnett D, Rowland M, Kerse N, Edlin R, Waters DL, et al. Sociodemographic and Health Indicators of Diet Quality in Pre-Frail Older Adults in New Zealand. Nutrients. 2023;15(20).

62. Gillies NA, Milan AM, Cameron-Smith D, Mumme KD, Conlon CA, von Hurst PR, et al. Vitamin B and One-Carbon Metabolite Profiles Show Divergent Associations with Cardiometabolic Risk Markers but not Cognitive Function in Older New Zealand Adults: A Secondary Analysis of the REACH Study. J Nutr. 2023;153(12):3529-42. 63. Hiol AN, von Hurst PR, Conlon CA, Beck KL. Associations of protein intake, sources and distribution on muscle strength in community-dwelling older adults living in Auckland, New Zealand. J. 2023;12:e94.

64. MacDonell SO, Moyes SA, Teh R, Dyall L, Kerse N, Wham C. Is the Utility of the GLIM Criteria Used to Diagnose Malnutrition Suitable for Bicultural Populations? Findings from Life and Living in Advanced Age Cohort Study in New Zealand (LiLACS NZ). Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging. 2023;27(1):67-74.

65. Gillies NA, Sharma P, Han SM, Teh R, Fraser K, Roy NC, et al. The acute postprandial response of homocysteine to multivitamin and mineral supplementation with a standard meal is not impaired in older compared to younger adults. Eur J Nutr. 2023;62(3):1309-22.

66. Ilesanmi-Oyelere BL, Kruger MC. Associations between dietary patterns and an array of inflammation biomarkers and plasma lipid profile in postmenopausal women. BMC Women's Health. 2023;23(1).

67. Al Hinai K, Fischer J, Al Mamari A, Hulme-Moir M. Improved stage and survival for patients in the Aotearoa New Zealand colorectal cancer screening program 2012–2019. ANZ Journal of Surgery. 2023;93(11):2669-74.

68. Lamprell K, Pulido DF, Arnolda G, Easpaig BNG, Tran Y, Owais SS, et al. People with earlyonset colorectal cancer describe primary care barriers to timely diagnosis: a mixed-methods study of web-based patient reports in the United Kingdom, Australia and New Zealand. BMC Prim Care. 2023;24(1):12.

69. Lao C, Mondal M, Kuper-Hommel M, Campbell I, Lawrenson R. What affects the public healthcare costs of breast cancer in New Zealand? Asia-Pacific Journal of Clinical Oncology.
2023;19(4):482-92.

70. Gibson R, Abey-Nesbit R, Gander P, Parsons M. Exploring older care recipients' sleep status as a predictor for informal carer distress: Evidence from New Zealand's interRAI home care assessment data. BMJ Open. 2023;13(10).

71. Gibson R, Akter T, Jones C, Towers A. Characteristics of Atypical Sleep Durations Among Older Compared to Younger Adults: Evidence from the New Zealand Health Survey. The journals of gerontology Series A, Biological sciences and medical sciences. 2023;78(10):1908-18.

72. Horncastle AJ, Gauld TD, Smith MB, Thomson WM. Comparing approaches to determining poor oral health among older adults in a national survey. Gerodontology. 2023;27:27.

73. Ruiz B, Broadbent JM, Murray Thomson W, Ramrakha S, Boden J, Horwood J, et al. Is childhood oral health the 'canary in the coal mine' for poor adult general health? Findings from two New Zealand birth cohort studies. Community Dentistry and Oral Epidemiology. 2023;51(5):838-46.

74. Elder M, Moonen A, Crowther S, Aleksova J, Center J, Elder GJ. Chronic kidney diseaserelated sarcopenia as a prognostic indicator in elderly haemodialysis patients. BMC Nephrol. 2023;24(1):138.

75. Goodman L, Hamm L, Tousignant B, Black J, Misra S, Woodburn S, et al. Primary eye health services for older adults as a component of universal health coverage: a scoping review of evidence from high income countries. Lancet Reg Health West Pac. 2023;35:100560.

76. Yeung EK, Brown L, Kairaitis L, Krishnasamy R, Light C, See E, et al. Impact of haemodialysis hours on outcomes in older patients. Nephrology. 2023;28(2):109-18.

77. Abdul Aziz YH, Heydon SJ. Self-care in New Zealand: The role of the community pharmacy. Exploratory Research in Clinical and Social Pharmacy. 2023;12.

78. Beyene K, Fahmy H, Chan AHY, Tomlin A, Cheung G. Predictors of persistent opioid use in non-cancer older adults: a retrospective cohort study. Age Ageing. 2023;52(9):01.

79. Chan AHY, Hikaka JA, To E, Cullum S, Ma'u E, Ryan B, et al. Anti-dementia medication use in Aotearoa New Zealand: An exploratory study using health data from the Integrated Data Infrastructure (IDI). Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry. 2023;57(6):895-903.

80. Halim NK, Harris RG, Cameron ID, Close J, Harris IA, Hallen J, et al. Two-country comparison of the prescription of bone protection medication before and early after hip fracture. Archives of Osteoporosis. 2023;18(1).

Jamieson H, Nishtala PS, Bergler HU, Weaver SK, Pickering JW, Ailabouni NJ, et al.
 Deprescribing Anticholinergic and Sedative Drugs to Reduce Polypharmacy in Frail Older Adults
 Living in the Community: A Randomized Controlled Trial. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.
 2023;78(9):1692-700.

 Liu L, Alate R, Harrison J. Development and validation of PolyScan, an information technology triage tool for older adults with polypharmacy: a healthcare informatics study. J Prim Health Care. 2023.

83. Liu L, Harrison J. Development of explicit criteria identifying potentially inappropriate polypharmacy in older adults in New Zealand primary care: A mixed-methods study. J Prim Health Care. 2023;15(1):38-47.

84. Mohammed MA, Chan AHY, Chan S, Ungureanu B, Seo H, Ong P, et al. Potentially inappropriate medications and potential prescribing omissions in hospitalised older adults in New Zealand: A retrospective study. Australas J Ageing. 2023;42(4):668-74.

85. Mohammed MA, Harrison J, Milosavljevic A, Chan AHY. Attitude towards deprescribing and its association with frailty and complexity of medication regimen: A survey of older inpatients in a district health board in New Zealand. BMC geriatr. 2023;23(1).

86. Nishtala PS, Pickering JW, Bergler U, Mangin D, Hilmer SN, Jamieson H. Post Hoc Analyses of a Randomized Controlled Trial for the Effect of Pharmacist Deprescribing Intervention on the Anticholinergic Burden in Frail Community-Dwelling Older Adults. J Am Med Dir Assoc. 2023;24(8):1253-60.

87. Quek HW, Etherton-Beer C, Page A, McLachlan AJ, Lo SY, Naganathan V, et al. Deprescribing for older people living in residential aged care facilities: Pharmacist recommendations, doctor acceptance and implementation. Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics. 2023;107.

88. Gallardo-Peralta LP, Rodriguez-Rodriguez V, Valencia Galvez L, Tereucan Angulo J, Soto Higuera A, Sanchez-Moreno E. A systematic review of ageing in place among Indigenous People in Canada, USA, Mexico, Chile and New Zealand. Health psychol. 2023;11(1):2252883.

89. Higgs C, Taungapeau F, Silcock C, Sanerivi O, Fruean E, Lameta I, et al. Holistic health for Pacific seniors from a weekly group gathering run by a Pacific health provider. J Prim Health Care. 2023;15(4):358-65.

90. Koh A, Morgan T, Wiles J, Williams L, Xu J, Gott M. Older Chinese and Korean migrants' experiences of the first COVID-19 lockdown in Aotearoa New Zealand: A qualitative study. Asia Pacific Viewpoint. 2023;64(1):60-71.

Lay-Yee R, Hariri AR, Knodt AR, Barrett-Young A, Matthews T, Milne BJ. Social isolation from childhood to mid-adulthood: Is there an association with older brain age? Psychol Med.
2023;53(16):7874-82.

92. Lay-Yee R, Matthews T, Moffitt T, Poulton R, Caspi A, Milne B. Are trajectories of social isolation from childhood to mid-adulthood associated with adult depression or suicide outcomes. Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology. 2023;58(3):373-82.

93. Oetzel JG, Zhang YS, Nock S, Meha P, Huriwaka H, Vercoe M, et al. Enhancing health outcomes for Māori elders through an intergenerational cultural exchange and physical activity programme: a cross-sectional baseline study. Front. 2023;11:9.

94. Curl A, Annear M, Keeling S, Hackett G. Building Back Better: Do Post-Earthquake Neighborhoods Promote Active Aging? A Long-Term Audit Analysis in Christchurch, New Zealand. Journal of Aging and Environment. 2023;37(3):255-76.

95. James BL. What housing characteristics support seniors? Seniors' experiences of housing and home in New Zealand during the COVID-19 pandemic. International Journal of Housing Markets and Analysis. 2023;16(3):552-74.

96. Jaye C, McHugh J, Doolan-Noble F, Wood LC. Rurality and latent precarity: Growing older in a small rural New Zealand town. Journal of Rural Studies. 2023;99:144-52.

97. Napier S, Neville S, Adams J, Taylor L. Age-friendly attributes of a rural town in Aotearoa New Zealand. Journal of Rural Studies. 2023;100.

98. Binns E, Bright F, Parsons J, Peri K, Taylor L, Kerse N, et al. "It's all about the money": an interpretive description of embedding physical therapy-led falls prevention group exercise in long-term care. BMC geriatr. 2023;23(1).

99. Chaseling GK, Morris NB, Ravanelli N. Extreme Heat and Adverse Cardiovascular Outcomes in Australia and New Zealand: What Do We Know? Heart Lung Circ. 2023;32(1):43-51.

100. Chen N, Farrell M, Kendall S, Levy L, Mehan R, Katz B. The Pain Clinic for Older People. Pain Med. 2023;24(2):182-7.

101. Gage R, Mizdrak A, Richards J, Bauman A, McLeod M, Jones R, et al. The Epidemiology of Domain-Specific Physical Activity in New Zealand Adults: A Nationally Representative Cross-Sectional Survey. Journal of Physical Activity and Health. 2023;20(10):909-20.

102. Gonzalez-Prieto C, Wilson D, Dobbie G, Rivera-Rodriguez C, Yates S, Rai-Bala R, et al. Exploring older peoples' attitudes and preferences around the use of their healthcare information. The New Zealand medical journal. 2023;136(1582):64-86.

103. Hikaka J, Abey-Nesbit R, McIntosh B, Schluter PJ, Nishtala PS, Scrase R, et al. Utility of Big Data to Explore Medication Adherence in Māori and Non-Māori Community-Dwelling Older Adults with Heart Failure in Aotearoa New Zealand: A Cross-sectional Study. Drugs and Aging. 2023;40(9):847-55.

104. Roseveare C, Breheny M, Mansvelt J, Murray L, Wilkie M, Gates MC. Companion Animal Fostering as Health Promotion: A Literature Review. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2023;20(13).

105. Thaggard S, Boon-Nanai J, Tautolo ES, Montayre J. Experiences of Elder Abuse in Pacific Island Communities of Aotearoa New Zealand: a Cultural Lens. Journal of Population Ageing. 2023;16(2):437-58.